ORIUMAL

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC12-986** 

LOWER TRIBUNAL NUMBER.: 2006-01864-CF

#### NORMAN BLAKE MCKENZIE,

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JAMES L. DRISCOLL JR. FLORIDA BAR NO. 0078840 ASSISTANT CCRC

DAVID D. HENDRY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0160016 ASSISTANT CCRC

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

# **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. McKenzie left the scene of the homicides in question in one of the victim's cars and left his own registered vehicle at the scene. Law enforcement traced the car to Mr. McKenzie. Mr. McKenzie quickly became a suspect in the instant homicide case and a BOLO was issued for him. Mr. McKenzie went to Georgia, possibly more than once. Each trip was fueled by his Cocaine-Induced-Paranoia which existed apart from his actual cocaine use. Mr. McKenzie's cocaine use was extreme, as were his ongoing efforts to obtain more of the drug. While it would be reasonable for someone in Mr. McKenzie's position to believe that law enforcement would be looking for him, Mr. McKenzie's mental illness and drug abuse led him to believe that there was a variety of people following him that did not correspond in any way to reality.

After a series of car changes and drug buys, Mr. McKenzie found himself in Citrus County in a strange car with law enforcement in pursuit of him. A number of law enforcement officers chased him. Mr. McKenzie eventually surrendered. After he was taken into custody, law enforcement placed him in a small room and began to interrogate Mr. McKenzie about the instant homicides and multiple other crimes. This occurred on October 5, 2006, and was recorded by secret camera. At the close of the interrogation, law enforcement led Mr. McKenzie to believe that law enforcement was not videotaping the previous interrogation. The video was

not viewed by the trial court or the jury. The video is contained in Supplemental Record Volume I and can be reviewed by this Court.

The video revealed much more about Mr. McKenzie, his background and the crimes in question than law enforcement's testimony at Mr. McKenzie's trial did. At trial, the State and law enforcement selectively summarized Mr. McKenzie's statements to provide what was needed for the jury to return a verdict of guilty as charged and to obtain a death sentence.

The actual video recording of Mr. McKenzie showed compelling mitigation in its own right. In the video Mr. McKenzie is seen as delusional and a disturbed mentally ill drug abuser. The trial court never heard or saw any of this. After law enforcement had obtained enough evidence for a conviction and death sentence, they let Mr. McKenzie use the phone.

Mr. McKenzie was housed in the Citrus County Jail for approximately two weeks. He was transferred to the Marion County Jail for 4 months then sent to St. Johns County Jail in February. He went back to Marion County, then to Alachua County. From Alachua County, he went to the Department of Corrections for approximately one week before he returned to St. Johns County and remained there until after he was sentenced to death. On February 6, 2007, while Mr. McKenzie was temporarily housed in the St. Johns County Jail, law enforcement interrogated him again before Mr. McKenzie went to first appearance on February 7, 2007.

This interrogation was also videotaped and can be viewed in Supplemental Record I.

On October 17, 2006, the grand jury, in and for St. Johns County, Florida, returned an indictment charging Mr. McKenzie with two counts of first-degree murder. (Vol. I R. 3-4). The indictment alleged that Mr. McKenzie killed Randy Wayne Peacock and Charles Frank Johnston by striking each with a hatchet and also by stabbing Mr. Peacock with a knife.

On January 31, 2007, the trial court ordered Mr. McKenzie transported from the Marion County Jail for arraignment. (Vol. I R. 5). Mr. McKenzie initially indicated that he would try to hire a private attorney, but on February 15, 2007 Mr. McKenzie went to arraignment and was appointed counsel from the Public Defender's Office (Vol. I R. 9). The trial court set a pretrial conference for March 15, 2007. (Vol. I R. 9). On February 21, 2007, the trial court ordered Mr. McKenzie transported from Marion County by the St. Johns County Sheriff for a pretrial conference on March 15, 2007. (Vol. I R. 11). Mr. McKenzie was not transported and the trial court reset the pretrial for May 15, 2007. (Vol. I R. 15).

On March 22, 2007, counsel filed a motion to continue the previously set pretrial and, in the process purported to waive Mr. McKenzie's right to a speedy trial. (Vol. I R. 20-21). The motion stated that Mr. McKenzie had been transported to another county jail and counsel had not had any contact with Mr. McKenzie. On

March 29, 2007, the trial court issued a transport order to have Mr. McKenzie transported for the pretrial hearing on May 15, 2007. (Vol. I R. 18). At the May 15, 2007 pretrial hearing, Mr. McKenzie was not present and the trial court set another pretrial hearing for July 11, 2007. (Vol. I R. 30). Mr. McKenzie was returned from the Florida Department of Corrections to the St. Johns County Jail on May 21, 2007. (Vol. I R. 32). Unlike law enforcement, the Public Defender's Office never traveled anywhere to consult with Mr. McKenzie before he was housed at the St. Johns County Jail. Without consulting Mr. McKenzie, trial counsel waived Mr. McKenzie's right to speedy trial.

On July 11, 2007, the trial court held a pretrial hearing and ordered Mr. McKenzie to be held for the duration of the case in the St. Johns County Jail. (Vol. I R. 35). At this hearing, the trial court set the case for trial. On August 10, 2007, appointed counsel orally moved to continue the case. Mr. McKenzie personally objected and refused to waive his speedy trial rights again. (Vol. I R. 39-40). Mr. McKenzie, in the throes of mental illness and impulsivity, informed the trial court that he did not want the counsel assigned to him. A *Farretta* inquiry followed and the trial court permitted Mr. McKenzie to discharge counsel and represent himself.

Mr. McKenzie proceeded to trial without counsel. The jury found Mr. McKenzie guilty as charged. Mr. McKenzie proceeded to a penalty phase. Before proceeding to the penalty phase, Mr. McKenzie elected to have counsel appointed.

Mr. McKenzie discharged counsel the next morning. The jury recommended death by a vote of 10-2 for each murder charge.

Following a *Spencer* hearing, the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Johns County, Florida, imposed a death sentence for each first degree murder charge.

#### The Trial Court's Sentencing Order

The trial court found that:

- (1) Mr. McKenzie had previously been convicted of another capital offense or of a felony involving the use of violence to some person [assigned great weight];
- (2) The crime was committed while Mr. McKenzie was engaged in the commission of the crime of robbery [assigned great weight];
- (3) The crime was committed for financial gain (the trial court concluded that this factor merged with the prior aggravating factor) [assigned no added weight];
- (4) The crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, without any pretense of moral or legal justification [assigned great weight].

(Vol. I R. 185-190).

This trial court rejected Mr. McKenzie's contention that he committed the murders while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, specifically that he was high on cocaine at the time. (Vol. I R.190-91). The trial court considered seven nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. The court found that the evidence reasonably established the following circumstances:

- (1) Mr. McKenzie suffers from cocaine addiction [little weight];
- (2) Mr. McKenzie suffered abuse as a child [little weight];
- (3) Mr. McKenzie displayed good behavior during the course of all court proceedings [some weight];
- (4) Mr. McKenzie expressed remorse [some weight];
- (5) Mr. McKenzie cooperated with police and was instrumental during his own conviction [some weight];
- (6) Mr. McKenzie was gainfully employed and earned substantial income at the time of the crimes [very little weight];
- (7) Mr. McKenzie is currently serving a sentence of life in prison and will never be paroled [little weight].

#### (Vol. I R. 191-194)

This Court affirmed the conviction and death sentence on appeal. *McKenzie* v. State, 29 So.3d 272 (Fla. 2010). Mr. McKenzie filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari to the Supreme Court of Florida. The United States Supreme Court denied the petition on October 4, 2010.

While preparing to file a postconviction motion, CCRC-M filed a Motion to Compel Production of Records because certain agencies had not complied with their obligations under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.852. (Vol. I PCR. 61). The trial court found that the motion to compel was moot because the records had been sent to the Florida State Repository. (Vol. I PCR. 66). At the status hearing on this matter, the trial court ordered the records claimed exempt by the agencies to

be shipped to the court for *in camera* inspection. (Vol. I PCR. 67). The court reviewed the records and ordered some of the records released and denied disclosure on a large portion. (Vol. I PCR. 106-108).

Mr. McKenzie filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure. (Vol. I PCR. 109-199) The State filed a response. (Vol. I PCR. 109-199). The trial court held a Case Management Conference on January 13, 2012. (Vol. X PCR. 1-45). At the Case Management Conference Mr. McKenzie submitted two important documents for the trial court to consider in determining whether it should grant an evidentiary hearing: the affidavit of psychologist Mark D. Cunningham, Ph.D ABPP, and two DVDs containing law enforcement's two interrogations of Mr. McKenzie. *See* (Vol. II PCR. 257, 258).(Supp. R. I).

The trial court denied Mr. McKenzie an evidentiary hearing and his Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence. (Vol. III PCR. 322-Vol. IV 565). Mr. McKenzie filed a motion for rehearing and supplemented the motion with an affidavit from Dr. Cunningham. (Vol. IV PCR. 588). The trial court denied the motion for rehearing. (Vol. IV PCR. 612). This appeal follows.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

The question before the Court is whether the State can execute Mr. McKenzie without any meaningful consideration of his mitigation. Postconviction can still provide an opportunity for some consideration of Mr. McKenzie's mitigation. It is not too late.

This brief offers a number of arguments that would allow Mr. McKenzie's mitigation to be heard. The brief then presents what the mitigation should have been considered by the jury and the trial court in determining whether Mr. McKenzie should be executed.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court stated in *Franqui v. State*, 59 So.3d 82 (Fla. 2011):

A postconviction court's decision whether to grant an evidentiary hearing on a rule 3.850 motion is ultimately based on written materials before the court. Thus, its ruling is tantamount to a pure question of law, subject to de novo review. When reviewing a court's summary denial of a rule 3.850 motion or claim, the court must accept the movant's factual allegations as true to the extent they are not refuted by the record. Generally, a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on a rule 3.850 motion unless (1) the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief, or (2) the motion or particular claim is legally insufficient. (Fla.2000). The defendant bears the burden to establish a prima facie case based on a legally valid claim; mere conclusory allegations are insufficient. *Id*.

Id. at 95-96. (Citations omitted). Accordingly, this Court should apply de novo review.

## **ARGUMENTS**

Norman Blake McKenzie was sentenced to die by a court and a jury that heard the worst about Mr. McKenzie's crimes and never considered any real information that weighed against Mr. McKenzie's crimes. The relevant sentencers in this case, the courts and the jury, knew very little about the man sentenced to die. A decision on life and death should not be made without knowing all of the information that concerns this decision.

In postconviction, Mr. McKenzie simply sought to present evidence that explained his actions and offered an alternative to his execution. Had the mitigation Mr. McKenzie sought to present been heard below, Mr. McKenzie certainly would have argued that the evidence showed that he should not be executed. Mr. McKenzie never had the opportunity to present his compelling case for life. This Court should reverse the trial court's decision and allow Mr. McKenzie's mitigation to be heard.

In the first section, Mr. McKenzie argues that the reasons offered in his postconviction motion justified the trial court granting an evidentiary hearing. In the second section, Mr. McKenzie offers some of the mitigation that would have been presented had the court held the evidentiary hearing. To the extent that the claims in Section I require proof of prejudice, Section II clearly shows that Mr. McKenzie was prejudiced by all of the constitutional error that occurred and was

denied a fair determination of whether death should be imposed.

I. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE HEARD THE MITIGATION MR. **MCKENZIE** DEVELOPED DURING POSTCONVICTION AND PRESENTED IN HIS MOTION BECAUSE MR. MCKENZIE WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO **MITIGATION** AT TRIAL **BASED** PRESENT CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS AND ERRORS THAT OCCURRED IN HIS CASE AND WHICH DENIED MR. MCKENZIE HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Mr. McKenzie offered a number of reasons for the trial court to hold an evidentiary hearing so that Mr. McKenzie could present his mitigation. The trial court should have granted an evidentiary hearing that allowed Mr. McKenzie to present mitigation. Moreover, the reasons that Mr. McKenzie presented for a hearing were constitutional questions that required factual determinations and an opportunity for Mr. McKenzie to present evidence to prove these claims. Mr. McKenzie's death sentence violates the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

This Court should reverse. Mr. McKenzie argues as follows:

1. Counsel was ineffective during the period in which they represented Mr. McKenzie

Violating the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, Mr. McKenzie's appointed counsel were ineffective during the period of time that they actually represented Mr. McKenzie. Counsel acted deficiently when counsel failed

to see Mr. McKenzie at the location he was held in custody before waiving Mr. McKenzie's speedy trial rights. Reasonable counsel would have seen Mr. McKenzie immediately upon the court appointing counsel, if not upon hearing that Mr. McKenzie was arrested. Indeed, ABA Guideline 10.5 "RELATIONSHIP WITH THE CLIENT" states in relevant part:

- A. Counsel at all stages of the case should make every appropriate effort to establish a relationship of trust with the client, and should maintain close contact with the client.
- B. 1. Barring exceptional circumstances, an interview of the client should be conducted within 24 hours of initial counsel's entry into the case.

There was media coverage that should have alerted the Public Defender's Office that Mr. McKenzie was arrested for a double homicide occurring in St. Johns County. Reasonable counsel understands the need to establish trust between attorney and client in a death case. In Mr. McKenzie's case, this was of the utmost importance because Mr. McKenzie was prone to distrust, abandonment issues and impulsivity. Counsel's ineffectiveness went further when counsel waived Mr. McKenzie's right to speedy trial without consulting with Mr. McKenzie to adequately explain the right, statutorily and constitutionally, to speedy trial. Moreover, counsel should have adequately explained the capital sentencing process to Mr. McKenzie.

Counsel's deficiency in failing to meet with Mr. McKenzie led him to act impulsively and waive his right to counsel. As a result of his waiver of counsel induced by counsel's deficiency, Mr. McKenzie was denied the effective assistance of counsel to present mitigation that would have supported a life sentence, thus prejudicing him and denying him a full and fair determination of whether he lives or dies.

Counsel's deficiency in failing to meet with their client compelled Mr. McKenzie, who was mentally ill, traumatized and impulsive, to involuntarily waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. Faced with the choice between proceeding with the counsel that violated his trust by waiving speedy trial or no Sixth Amendment guaranteed counsel, Mr. McKenzie chose a course of events that utterly denied him a fair penalty phase. This false choice rendered his decision to represent himself unknowing, unintelligent and involuntary.

Ineffective assistance of counsel is comprised of two components: deficient performance and prejudice. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove deficient performance the defendant must show "that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment." *Id.* The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Id.* at 688. To prove the deficient performance caused prejudice to the defendant, the defendant must show

"that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." *Id.* at 687.

The defendant must show both deficient performance and prejudice to prove that a "conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable." *Id.* "The purpose of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of counsel is to ensure that a defendant had the assistance necessary to justify reliance on the outcome of the proceeding." *Id.* at 691.

A defendant, however, "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." *Id.* at 693. "When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt. When a defendant challenges a death sentence such as the one at issue in this case, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer--including an appellate court, to the extent it independently reweighs the evidence--would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death." *Id.* at 695.

"In making this determination, a court hearing an ineffectiveness claim must consider the totality of the evidence before the judge or jury." *Id.* at 695. "[A] verdict or conclusion only weakly supported by the record is more likely to have been affected by errors than one with overwhelming record support." *Id.* at 696.

In the instant case, counsel was deficient in not consulting with Mr. McKenzie before waiving speedy trial and in not adequately explaining the capital sentencing process. This led to Mr. McKenzie waiving counsel which was prejudicial because because it deprived him of the opportunity to develop and present mitigation in support of his case for life and directly resulted in his death sentence. The trial court found that this claim has no merit. The court made the following findings of fact:

Defendant's claim that he was prejudiced by counsel's alleged deficient performance is refuted by the record. First, Defendant's claim that counsel's alleged deficient performance caused him to act impulsively in waiving his right to counsel is refuted by the fact that Defendant's waiver was clearly based on his desire to proceed to trial in an expeditious manner, without a continuance. Additionally, Defendant did not agree with counsel's trial strategies. Defendant felt it was a cut and dry case, and that there should not be much discovery completed, or any mitigation.

Second, Defendant's claim that counsel's alleged deficient performance deprived him of the opportunity to develop and present mitigation in support of his case for life is refuted by Defendant's actions before and after the guilt phase of the trial. As stated above, Defendant's waiver of counsel was based on his desire to proceed to trial expeditiously and on his disagreement with counsel regarding trial strategy. Further, after the initial waiver of counsel, i.e. the alleged impulsive waiver, Defendant had ample opportunity to reflect on his decision before the penalty phase of the trial. In fact, after the guilty verdict, Defendant requested appointed counsel for the penalty phase, but after further reflection, he again expressed his desire to represent himself and proceed to the penalty phase immediately.

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