ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

2013 JAN 17 PH 1:18

NORMAN B. McKENZIE,

Appellant,

BY____

v.

CASE NO. SC12-986

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

Mitchell D. Bishop Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 43319 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor Telephone: (386) 238-4990

Fax: (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

MR. FRANCE: And we're going to call medical testimony that's going to go into more detail about the wounds, but can you tell us the locations of the wounds found on Mr. Peacock?

DETECTIVE BURRES: Yes, sir. There was two wounds to the back of Mr. Peacock's head, consistent with the blunt side of the hatchet. There were also what appeared to be two stab wounds in the back side

of Mr. Peacock's head as well. There was a stab wound in Mr. Peacock's neck, and multiple stab wounds in his abdomen area and side.

MR. FRANCE: Okay. Now let's go back to what the defendant was telling you about this. Do those locations match up with the defendant's account of this second attack?

DETECTIVE BURRES: Yes, sir.

MR. FRANCE: Okay. What did he tell you about that second attack?

DETECTIVE BURRES: He stated that when he began stabbing Mr. Peacock, he attempted to stab him in the neck. He stated that he didn't see a lot of blood coming out. He said he was actually going for the jugular vein in his neck, and due to the lack of blood, he presumed he missed, and began attempting to stab Mr. Peacock in the heart. He said he also stabbed Mr. Peacock in the stomach, in an upward motion, attempting to strike his heart as well.

MR. FRANCE: What did he indicate he did next?

DETECTIVE BURRES: After stabbing Mr. Peacock, he began searching for his wallet.

MR. FRANCE: Where did he find that wallet?

DETECTIVE BURRES: He found it inside of a collapsible lunchbox in the dining room area.

MR. FRANCE: What did the defendant say he did next?

DETECTIVE BURRES: He took Mr. Peacock's wallets, the keys that were hanging on a column inside the kitchen, and left the residence.

MR. FRANCE: How did he leave?

DETECTIVE BURRES: He left by taking Mr. Peacock's vehicle.

MR. FRANCE: Was that car later recovered?

DETECTIVE BURRES: Yes, sir, it was.

MR. FRANCE: Where was it recovered?

DETECTIVE BURRES: It was recovered in Alachua County.

MR. FRANCE: How did the defendant indicate that he arrived at this residence?

DETECTIVE BURRES: By driving his own personal vehicle there.

MR. FRANCE: Okay. And did he tell you the make and model of that car?

DETECTIVE BURRES: It was a gold Kia Sorrento.

MR. FRANCE: Okay. And, again, you verified that part of what he was telling you?

DETECTIVE BURRES: Yes, sir.

MR. FRANCE: Where did the defendant indicate he left the knife in the kitchen?

DETECTIVE BURRES: He stated that he washed the knife and placed it inside the kitchen sink.

MR. FRANCE: And, again, is that exactly where you found it?

DETECTIVE BURRES: Yes, sir.

MR. FRANCE: As to the other wounds on Mr. Peacock, what did Mr. McKenzie say about what he was doing when he attacked him?

DETECTIVE BURRES: He stated that he was cooking at that time.

MR. FRANCE: And where did Mr. Peacock end up upon the initial attack?

DETECTIVE BURRES: On top of the stove, inside the pot. Mr. McKenzie described him going down with his elbows inside the pot.

MR. FRANCE: And did you, in fact, observe burns on Mr. Peacock?

DETECTIVE BURRES: Yes, sir, on his arms.

MR. FRANCE: And, again, did the defendant comment about this?

DETECTIVE BURRES: Yes, sir.

MR. FRANCE: Okay. Did he also indicate that you probably would find burns on Mr. Peacock?

DETECTIVE BURRES: Yes, sir, he did.

(DAR, V5, R195-203).

Juxtaposing the officer's testimony with McKenzie's comments in opening statement about what the evidence would show, the two are similar. The interrogating officer did not present a distorted or grandiose version of McKenzie's confession. He repeated McKenzie's statements similar to the way McKenzie characterized them in opening statement.

McKenzie was advised of the potential consequences of self-representation and he voluntarily waived his right to counsel. He knowingly and voluntarily assumed those consequences and cannot complain about them now. This claim does not state a viable claim, is insufficiently pled, has no merit, is based on speculation and the lower court's summary denial should be affirmed.

5. The state failed to present mitigation

McKenzie argues the State should have presented the entire videotape of the confessions because it showed drug use and mental illness. First, this claim is procedurally barred. *Miller*, 926 So. 2d at 1260; *Davis*, 928 So. 2d at 1116-1136; Duckett, 918 So. 2d at 231; Robinson, 913 So. 2d at 523. Additionally, McKenzie cites no authority to support his argument that the State "has a duty" to present evidence for a defendant who voluntarily chooses to represent himself. In fact, McKenzie seems to contradict himself later in the initial brief and acknowledges that the State has no duty to present mitigation evidence when he argues, "The State did not have a duty to present mitigating evidence for Mr. McKenzie." (Initial Brief at 38). There are circumstances in which the trial court could order the State to "place in the record all evidence in its possession of a mitigating nature such as school records, military records, and medical records." Muhammad v. State, 782 So. 2d 343, 363-364 (Fla. 2001). The trial courts, however, have other means at their disposal for a pro se defendant who has implicitly or affirmatively waived mitigation; such as appointing special mitigation counsel, ordering a comprehensive PSI into the defendant's background, or tasking stand-by counsel for this limited purpose. *Barnes v. State*, 29 So. 3d 1010, 1022-1023 (Fla. 2010) (citing *Muhammad*, 782 So. 2d at 363-364).

In this case, the court below ordered a comprehensive PSI which produced mitigation that the court considered in sentencing. (V4, R539, 555-556, 558, 560). For McKenzie to claim that he was unaware of the status of his mental health at the time of the confession and was not aware his confessions were videotaped defies logic. And any allusion to a Brady¹⁰ violation is directly refuted by the record. There were two confessions, both of which took place in interview rooms, both of which took place after McKenzie signed a written waiver. (DAR, V1, R98, 102). The State's discovery exhibit list clearly indicates that the statements were electronically recorded. (V1, R22). If McKenzie failed to view the videotapes, it is because he either did not want to or his oversight was a hazard of his selfrepresentation on which he so vehemently insisted. He was advised repeatedly of the pitfalls of self-representation, but insisted on controlling his destiny. He had the evidence in his hands and if he did not know what to do with it because he refused the assistance of his attorney—or did not ask his stand-by counsel—he assumed the risk of his circumstances when he discharged his lawyers.

Most importantly, the purpose for which McKenzie claims he would have admitted the videotaped confession was to present mitigation evidence of his "drug abuse and mental illness." It escapes reason that the court would have been able to discern mental illness from a videotaped dialogue with law enforcement—

¹⁰ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

especially when there were two pre-trial mental health evaluations of McKenzie which found him competent and McKenzie spoke early and often with the court during his trial and gave no indication that he was mentally infirm. During the videotaped interrogations McKenzie was lucid, articulate, at times whimsical, and recalled facts about the murders and other crimes in specific detail. As to McKenzie's drug use, the court below considered McKenzie's drug abuse as non-statutory mitigation.

It would have been more harmful than helpful if McKenzie had played the videotaped interrogations to the jury. In addition to the details of the murders in this case, the jury would have watched and listened to McKenzie discuss his voluntary drug abuse, numerous robberies—some committed with a firearm—and details about another homicide in Georgia. While additional evidence about his cocaine binges would support McKenzie's theory in mitigation, juries are not usually sympathetic to cavalier discussion about drug use. Hannon v. State, 941 So. 2d 1109, 1130 (Fla. 2006) (quoting Cummings-El v. State, 863 So. 2d 246, 267 (Fla. 2003) ("Counsel acknowledged that drug abuse can have a double-edged sword effect on the jury, as juries are not sympathetic to junkies generally.") (quoted from trial court's denial order attached to opinion). The contents of the videotaped interrogations presented a double-edged sword that was blunt in mitigation and razor sharp in aggravation. Evans v. Sec'y, Dept. of Corr., 1014920, 2013 WL 50208 (11th Cir. Jan. 4, 2013); see also Reed v. State, 875 So. 2d 415, 437 (Fla. 2004). Additionally, because McKenzie waived mitigation, the trial court followed this Court's ruling in *Muhammad* and did not give any weight to the 10-2 jury recommendation. 782 So. 2d at 361-362. Therefore, McKenzie was in no way prejudiced by the absence of his videotaped confession at trial. This claim is based on pure speculation, is insufficiently pled, is refuted by the record, fails to state a viable post-conviction claim, and is procedurally barred. The lower court's denial should be affirmed.

6. The pre-sentence investigation was deficient

Any issue regarding the sufficiency of the PSI is procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal. *Miller*, 926 So. 2d at 1260; *Davis*, 928 So. 2d at 1116-1136; *Duckett*, 918 So. 2d at 231; *Robinson*, 913 So. 2d at 523. Moreover, the issue has no merit. The court below precisely followed the rules and procedures outlined by this Court for a defendant who waives mitigation. *Muhammad*, 782 So. 2d at 343. If the lower court had failed to properly follow procedure, it should have been raised on direct appeal. *Cf. Robinson v. State/Crosby*, 913 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 2005) (Capital murder defendant's claim in post-conviction proceeding that trial court had violated the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments in its consideration of mitigation and failure to find mitigating

circumstances was procedurally barred, as defendant was arguing trial court error that should have been raised on direct appeal).

Further, this claim is insufficiently pled. McKenzie makes conclusory allegations that the PSI is insufficient, but points to no specific instance of insufficiency other than to retreat to his argument in sub-section five above. The only specific piece of information cited is that the confession videos show McKenzie in the "throes of delusion and mental illness." McKenzie fails to explain how or why the PSI should have included these videos. McKenzie again states the trial judge should have appointed a mental health expert, but fails to explain why, considering McKenzie represented himself and voluntarily waived (whether tacitly or affirmatively) mitigation. McKenzie knew that a lawyer could hire a mental health expert for him, in fact his court-appointed lawyers had done so and he fired them anyway. McKenzie was competent to waive his right to counsel and the trial court took into account McKenzie's waiver of mitigation under *Muhammad*.

7. The death penalty cannot be imposed without a full presentation of mitigation

McKenzie argues that the death penalty cannot be imposed without consideration of mitigation. McKenzie ignores this Court's ruling in *Muhammad* and its progeny. 782 So. 2d 343. McKenzie waived the assistance of counsel and waived mitigation. There is no claim that either of these waivers was involuntary. The court below followed the procedures outlined by this Court for both the

Faretta waiver and mitigation waiver. Any complaint about the procedure should have been raised on direct appeal and this issue is procedurally barred. *Miller*, 926 So. 2d at 1260; *Davis*, 928 So. 2d at 1116-1136; *Duckett*, 918 So. 2d at 231; *Robinson*, 913 So. 2d at 523.

A competent defendant may waive presentation of mitigation evidence. Hojan v. State, 3 So. 3d 1204, 1211 (Fla. 2009) (citing Muhammad, 782 So. 2d 343); Hamblen v. State, 527 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 1988). McKenzie makes no claim of incompetency. Neither does he allege he would allow mitigation to be presented. He merely argues that he has a mental illness and abuses drugs. He does not allege the specific mental illness or the witnesses who would establish the alleged facts. As to drug abuse, this Court found as mitigation that, "the Defendant suffers from an addiction to cocaine," and the sentencing order specifically notes the defendant's drug addiction and drug use as mitigation at the time of the murders. (V1, R192-193). This issue is conclusory, insufficiently pled, and has no merit. See Doorbal v. State/McNeil, 983 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 2008); Nelson v. State, 875 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 2004).

CLAIM II

MITIGATION THAT MCKENZIE CLAIMS HE SHOULD BE PERMITTED TO PRESENT AT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING

In the portion of the initial brief titled "Claim II," McKenzie present no claim at all: he simply proffers the mitigation evidence he would like to present at an evidentiary hearing. A significant portion of the proffered mitigation falls under drug abuse and child abuse, both of which were found and considered as mitigation by the court below. (V4, R556-559). McKenzie acknowledges that this "claim" is nothing more than a summary of mitigation when he writes "Claim II of Mr. McKenzie's post-conviction motion presented a summary of the mitigating evidence that should have been presented during [sic] penalty phase. This evidence was. . . . " (Initial Brief at 51). He then proceeds with an aggrandizing description of 26 mitigating factors he would present through his post-conviction mental health expert. McKenzie is trying to frame a claim cognizable in a motion for postconviction relief, however, the facts are clear: he voluntarily chose to exercise his constitutional right to represent himself and he voluntarily waived mitigation. The lower court thoroughly advised McKenzie of the consequences of waiving counsel and of waiving mitigation.

McKenzie waived the presentation of mitigation, and the newly-proffered evidence is procedurally barred. McKenzie does not claim he was incompetent to

waive mitigation or that he was involuntarily seduced into the waiver. The trial judge followed this Court's procedures when a defendant waives mitigation. Any issue those procedures were not properly followed should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. *Miller*, 926 So. 2d at 1260; *Davis*, 928 So. 2d at 1116-1136; *Duckett*, 918 So. 2d at 231; *Robinson*, 913 So. 2d at 523. McKenzie even acknowledges in his 3.851 motion to the trial court that he "waived the available mitigation in this case through his self-representation." (V1, R134). Nonetheless, he asked for an evidentiary hearing to proffer mitigation. Aside from being procedurally barred, this claim does not require an evidentiary hearing because it does not state a claim cognizable in post-conviction proceedings, has no merit, and the record establishes McKenzie's waivers were voluntary and competent.

In *Hamblen v. State*, 527 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 1988), the Florida Supreme Court ruled a defendant has the right to represent himself and control his own destiny. *Hamblen* and its progeny operate under the premise that a competent defendant may direct his own defense at trial. *See Farr v. State*, 656 So. 2d 448, 449 (Fla. 1995). A defendant possesses great control over the objectives and content of his mitigation. *Id.* (no error when defendant takes stand to refute and disclaim any possible mitigation because defendant is entitled to control overall objectives of counsel's argument). Whether a defendant is represented by counsel or is *pro se*,

the defendant has the right to choose what evidence, if any, will be presented during the penalty phase. See Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167, 189-190 (Fla. 2005); Grim v. State, 841 So. 2d 455, 461 (Fla. 2003), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 892 (2003). McKenzie chose to present only his bank records. He was acting as his own counsel, chose to take control of his destiny, and made his own decision. He had the absolute right to control his circumstances at trial and represent himself, and cannot now complain that he was ineffective. Jones v. State, 449 So. 2d 253, 258-259 (Fla. 1984) (quoting Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835, "a defendant who elects to represent himself cannot thereafter complain that the quality of his own defense amounted to a denial of 'effective assistance of counsel."); see also Behr v. Bell, 665 So. 2d 1055, 1056-57 (Fla. 1996) (citing to Faretta).

Insofar as any claim this Court failed to follow the procedure outlined in *Muhammad*, 782 So. 2d at 363, the issue is procedurally barred and has no merit. *Miller*, 926 So. 2d at 1260; *Davis*, 928 So. 2d at 1116-1136; *Duckett*, 918 So. 2d at 231; *Robinson*, 913 So. 2d at 523. The lower court strictly complied with *Muhammad*.

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